

A new land dividend

The opportunity of alternative proteins in Europe

A new land dividend The opportunity of alternative proteins in Europe

Authors Lydia Collas and Dustin Benton

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the Good Food Institute Europe for funding this work.

Green Alliance

Green Alliance is an independent think tank and charity focused on ambitious leadership for the environment. Since 1979, we have been working with the most influential leaders in business, NGOs and politics to accelerate political action and create transformative policy for a green and prosperous UK.

The Green Alliance Trust Registered charity no 1045395 Company limited by guarantee (England and Wales) no. 3037633

Published by Green Alliance May 2024

ISBN 978-1-915754-27-1

Designed by Howdy

© Green Alliance, May 2024

The text and original graphics in this work are licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International licence. To view a copy, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/ by-nc-nd/4.0/. Any use of this content should credit Green Alliance as the original author and source. Photographic images are subject to separate copyright and are not covered by this licence.



© creative commons

Contents

Summary	2
What are alternative proteins?	6
Up to two thirds of meat and dairy could be displaced by 2050	7
Alternative protein development scenarios	8
Alternative proteins create a land dividend	10
Using the land dividend	13
The scale of the opportunity	15
Shared dividends: four major findings	16
Conclusions	35
Recommendations	36
Endnotes	37

Summary

66

There is simply not enough land to continue current patterns of food consumption and meet our new goals for land." Europe faces a land crunch. It has almost no productive land unused by people and it substantially relies on land outside Europe. But more land is needed to achieve Europe's carbon neutrality and nature goals, to expand the area of nature-friendly agriculture and generate energy.

There is simply not enough land to continue current patterns of food consumption and meet our new goals for land. But talking about what we eat in Europe remains taboo: for politicians, diet change is a bitter pill to swallow.

Alternative proteins can help to avoid this stalemate. They could taste the same as meat and dairy with radically lower costs to consumers and the environment. Today's plant-based alternative proteins are already beginning to displace processed meat and dairy products as they reach cost parity. Our analysis suggests that, even with very limited support, they could displace a sixth of European meat and dairy consumption by 2050.

With the right policy support, products created by precision fermentation or cultivated meat could replicate some cuts of meat and more complex cheeses. This could enable alternative proteins to displace two thirds of the animal products currently consumed across Europe. If this were the case, alternative proteins could displace Europe's land crunch with an enormous land dividend. Reducing demand for meat and dairy by two thirds would mean 44 per cent of the farmland in the ten European countries we studied would no longer be needed for growing feed and grazing animals. Overseas land use would fall even further, by 57 per cent, releasing an area equivalent to Spain from producing the food that Europe imports.

The question is what could be done with this land dividend. Governments could use it to grow more food at home, increasing self-sufficiency; expand natural habitats that store carbon and support wild species; or increase the area of agroecological or high nature value farmland in Europe. Here, we show the implications of a 'shared dividend' policy, which does all three. (We explore other scenarios in our accompanying technical report).

In our 'high innovation' scenario, where alternative proteins come to represent two thirds of the meat and dairy market by 2050, sharing the land dividend would have four benefits:

- 1. The ten European countries studied would become self-sufficient in food, in terms of net land use.
- 2. Farmers would benefit from the carbon removal market by having the space to expand nature-rich, natural carbon sinks. These would avoid the need for engineered carbon removals, saving €21 billion a year by 2050 on the cost of

66

The CAP must be reimagined as a new rural deal."

meeting Europe's carbon neutrality goals, equivalent to nearly half the EU's Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) budget.

- 3. The area of agroecological farmland would quadruple by 2050, which is more than is necessary to meet the EU Farm to Fork strategy's goal of 25 per cent of land being certified organic.
- 4. Enough wildlife habitat would be created to restore so-called Annex I habitats (those identified as most in need of conservation) required by the EU's Nature Restoration Law.

To ensure the social benefits of this change are realised, the CAP must be reimagined as a new rural deal, one which pays farmers and land managers for nature restoration and carbon removal, alongside food. Alternative proteins would be central to this new rural deal, as they create the space to avoid the difficult trade-offs that Europe will otherwise face in reconciling its food, climate, nature and rural economic goals.

The potential for land use change under our two alternative protein scenarios

Low intervention

Domestic farmland Domestic farmland 13% 30% 17% 36% 70% 36% 34%

Overseas land

Energy infrastructure for carbon removal needed to achieve net zero

High innovation



6.7GW equivalent to 11 of Germany's average coal power stations



Semi-natural habitat Agroecological farming Conventional farming

Energy infrastructure for carbon removal needed to achieve net zero

Overseas land



60.3GW equivalent to 94 of Germany's average coal power stations

What are alternative proteins?

66

Precision fermentation seeks to make products indistinguishable from animal-based meat and dairy." Alternative proteins are foods produced to provide the sensory and nutritional equivalent of animal meat, dairy and eggs. There are three main types, produced from plants, fermentation and animal cells:

Plant-based meat, **dairy and egg** products are available today and typically displace products like sausages, burgers or milk. They range from more familiar products like bean burgers or almond milk to newer foods like vegan camembert or pea protein based Beyond Burgers. Innovation is likely to make these products taste similar to the conventional animal products they displace, at lower cost.

Fermentation is an innovative approach to producing foods that deliver the distinctive flavours and textures of animal products, without farming animals. Products such as Quorn or Fy are made with similar processes to those used to make beer and yoghurt. A new process of precision fermentation is aiming to make products indistinguishable from animal-based meat and dairy. The heme protein used in the Impossible Burger and animal-free whey protein in Perfect Day ice cream are among the products already on the market.

Cultivated meat is the same as the beef, pork, chicken and lamb that people enjoy eating today, and is sometimes called cellular agriculture. Like beer, cultivated meat is made in fermenters instead of by farming animals. The world's first cultivated meat burger, produced in 2013, was rumoured to cost \$330,000, but prices have dropped dramatically since. Products have recently been approved for sale in Singapore and the United States, and they are being considered by regulators for approval in the UK and Switzerland.

Up to two thirds of meat and dairy could be displaced by 2050

66

Alternative proteins will only reach their full potential with supportive policy." Alternative proteins are likely to displace some conventional meat and dairy products for two reasons. First, a large share of meat and dairy products are either processed or pre-prepared, like supermarket lasagne or frozen pizza. In processed food markets, businesses, rather than end consumers, choose ingredients to maximise profit margins, meaning the switch to alternative proteins could be made as soon as they undercut conventional meat and dairy on price.¹

Second, price and convenience drive consumer choices, meaning that alternative proteins offering a like for like replacement are more likely to displace conventional meat and dairy products than unprocessed plant foods which are less convenient. The extent of the displacement will depend on three factors:

- 1. Price. Innovation and scale up must bring down the costs of alternative proteins to attract consumers and food manufacturers. Price parity will be reached sooner if food price inflation continues to disproportionately affect meat and dairy products, driving food manufacturers towards alternatives with the right flavour and price.²
- 2. Policy. Governments influence how easily these products come to market by funding startups, infrastructure and the regulators that approve new products. Alternative proteins will only reach their full potential with supportive policy.
- **3. Taste.** Plant-based products are unlikely to replicate the taste of less processed forms of meat and dairy. Precision fermentation and cultivated meat must be scientifically and commercially successful to be able to displace cuts of meat and cheeses.

Alternative protein development scenarios

66

For more complex cuts of meat, additional innovation is needed for cultivated meat to reach a competitive price." Our analysis looked at two scenarios:³

Low intervention

Without supportive policy, we estimate alternative proteins could displace about a sixth of meat and dairy consumption by 2050. In this scenario, both precision fermentation and cultivated meat fail to become profitable, so only the plant-based alternative proteins sector grows. These plant-based products cannot displace whole cuts of meat or most types of cheese which have tastes and textures they cannot replicate, so substitution is limited to some processed meat and dairy products.

High innovation

With significant supportive policy the picture changes. Precision fermentation products can readily replace milk and eggs. In addition, precision fermentation and cellular agriculture can produce animal fats, enzymes and natural flavours that will make plant-based products taste much more like animal products. For more complex cuts of meat, additional innovation is needed for cultivated meat to reach a competitive price. If it can, some cuts of meat could be displaced, in addition to the meat and dairy eaten in processed forms, which is approximately half of what is consumed.⁴

In this scenario, alternative proteins account for over two thirds of meat and dairy sales by 2050. Most processed meat and dairy could be displaced, along with some complex cuts of meat. With supportive policy, traditional meat and dairy production could continue, but only serving higher value, lower volume, premium markets. Our accompanying <u>technical report</u> also studies an 'intermediate displacement' scenario and a scenario where alternative proteins fail to expand their present market share.



Policy will influence how much alternative proteins can displace meat and dairy

Alternative proteins create a land dividend

66

Over half of the farmland in the countries studied is used to produce meat and dairy." We studied what these scenarios would mean for ten countries which account for 80 per cent of total EU plus UK GDP and 70 per cent of total EU and UK land area: Denmark, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland, Romania, Spain, Sweden and the UK. These include a wide range of geographies, agricultural systems and land uses.

Today, over half of the farmland in the countries studied is used to produce meat and dairy products. Just 20 per cent of their agricultural area is used to grow plants eaten by their populations. In addition, all ten countries import food grown elsewhere, much of which is fed to domestic livestock. Though Europe is a net exporter of agricultural produce by value, it is a large importer of land use: these countries use over twice the land area overseas to grow the food they import, compared to the area used domestically to produce food they export.

Current land use is dominated by livestock in almost every country



Compared to meat and dairy, alternative proteins require far less land. In our 'low intervention' scenario, where approximately a sixth of meat and dairy is displaced by alternative proteins, 21 per cent of the domestic farmed area and nine per cent of the land overseas used for imports would be released for alternative uses.

Our 'high innovation' scenario, in which two thirds of meat and dairy is displaced, would free up 44 per cent of domestic land, an area nearly the size of France. An even greater area would be released from land used abroad for imports: 57 per cent less would be required, an area the size of Spain.

Increasing alternative protein consumption releases land for other uses at home and overseas



66 Our 'high innovation' scenario would free up 44 per cent of domestic land, an area the size of France."

France, Spain and the UK have the greatest land dividend, given their large areas of farmed land and extensively grazed outdoor beef and lamb sectors. Countries which produce more pork and chicken use relatively less land for livestock production and so less land would be released by increasing consumption of alternative proteins. The least land is released in Denmark and the Netherlands which have small agricultural areas dominated by export production which we assumed would remain unchanged.

Overall, though, shifting from meat and dairy to alternative proteins creates a large land dividend. European governments and their electorates have the opportunity to decide on how this could be used. We outline the options and trade-offs.

Using the land dividend

66

More land is needed to achieve Europe's carbon neutrality and nature goals." Across Europe, there is almost no productive land that is not used by people, and there is substantial reliance on land outside Europe for food supply.⁵ But more land is needed to achieve Europe's carbon neutrality and nature goals, to expand the area of organic or nature-friendly agriculture and generate energy.

These goals are not always mutually exclusive: for example, land used for solar or wind power can also be used for agriculture, and some types of farming provide habitats for farm-adapted species.⁶ However, there are also trade-offs to be addressed.

The main drivers of changing land use and the trade-offs, are:

- 1. Food security. Countries want to onshore production, which may help reduce climate related food disruptions. Onshoring also relieves land pressures in other countries which is necessary to end deforestation, nature decline and reach climate targets. However, using more land for food domestically reduces space for other uses.
- 2. Biomass for carbon removal. Bioenergy, including that used in bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS), could become a very large land use as countries aim to offset their emissions. If demand for bioenergy cannot be met from waste feedstocks, biomass production will compete for space with natural habitats and food production.
- **3.** Habitat expansion for nature and carbon removal. Investing in farmers and land managers in Europe to expand forests, wetlands and other semi-natural habitats is a cheaper way to remove carbon from the atmosphere than BECCS and is essential to restoring

nature across Europe. There are trade-offs here too: these habitats produce little food, but they offer diversified farm incomes, rural employment, leisure facilities and natural beauty.

4. Agroecology. Nature-friendly or agroecological approaches to farming can support traditional livelihoods and farm-adapted wildlife. But, by avoiding synthetic inputs, they tend to use more land per unit of food grown compared to conventional agriculture.⁷

The land dividend created by alternative proteins can offer space for all these priorities whilst reducing the trade-offs between them.

66

Semi-natural habitats offer rural employment, leisure facilities and natural beauty."

The scale of the opportunity

66

How the land dividend is spent is a political decision."

We assessed the scale of the opportunity from increasing alternative proteins to:

- 1. Increase self-sufficiency.
- 2. Expand semi-natural habitat to reduce demand for engineered carbon removal.
- 3. Expand agroecology.

We present a 'shared dividend' approach which equally divides land freed up by increasing the consumption of alternative proteins between these three priorities. This treats each priority as equally important and is not optimised for specific outcomes.

Ultimately, how the land dividend is spent is a political decision; but it is for European policy makers to decide how to make the most of the opportunity.

Our supporting <u>technical report</u> explores in detail the outcomes of different approaches to using land freed up to deliver against these three priorities.



The land dividend is split evenly across three priorities

Shared dividends: four major findings

66

The ten countries studied could meet their land demand within their own borders."

1. Alternative proteins could make countries self-sufficient in land use⁸

In our 'high innovation' scenario for alternative proteins, the ten countries we studied could meet their land demand within their own borders, while continuing to export food. Under our 'shared dividend' approach, the area used to produce exports would be greater than the area of overseas land used to produce imports. The current situation is very different: these countries use more than twice as much land overseas to grow imported food as they use domestically to grow food for export, making them dependent on land overseas.

At the level of individual countries, under this scenario there would be two exceptions: the Netherlands and the UK would continue to use substantially more land overseas for imports than they use to produce exports. However, both countries' land demand could be met by the land freed up in the other eight countries we studied.

In our 'low intervention' scenario, the ten countries we studied would, together, still depend on an area the size of Denmark overseas for their food imports. However, a 'shared dividend' approach would see overseas land use decline by a fifth compared to today.

In both scenarios, this increase in self-sufficiency arises partly because we assume that alternative proteins would be produced domestically. This would require policy support to attract producers and capitalise on the opportunity for European farmers to supply the inputs for the industry. Although food security is not synonymous with self-sufficiency, high innovation and uptake of alternative proteins would return these countries to levels of food self-sufficiency last experienced at least 30 years ago.⁹

Million hectares 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 Low intervention High innovation Scenario Land for imports today Land for imports in 2050 Land for exports in 2050

Alternative proteins improve self-sufficiency

66

High innovation in

alternative proteins would return these

countries to levels of food self-sufficiency last experienced at

least 30 years ago."

17

Only the UK and the Netherlands would still be reliant on land overseas with high innovation of alternative proteins





Net demand at 2050 for land overseas in each country (million hectares)

Could countries rethink producing food for export?

One factor we did not adjust for in our analysis was the amount of land used for exports. We assumed countries would export the same amount of food products in 2050 that they do today. But countries may reconsider this as the costs of environmental damage rise. This is particularly pertinent in the Netherlands, which uses over 60 per cent of its farmland to grow exported produce. Similarly, over half of Denmark's farmed area grows livestock products for export, and nitrogen pollution from farming is suspected to be causing 'dead zones' in the seas surrounding the country.¹⁰ If alternative proteins are successful in these countries, it may make sense to shift their export industries towards these less polluting products.

This issue is not exclusive to large exporters. The British government recently suffered a defeat in parliament over its intention to remove requirements for the building industry to offset nutrient pollution caused by new housing. But livestock manure is far more polluting than housebuilding. Degrading a nation's environment to produce food for other countries may become more contentious as other sectors come under increasing pressure to clean up the environment.



Denmark and the Netherlands use over half of their farmland to produce food exports

2. Alternative proteins could avoid expensive carbon removal infrastructure

Carbon neutrality, or net zero, requires unavoidable residual greenhouse gas emissions to be balanced out by removing emissions, typically carbon dioxide, from the atmosphere. Natural ecosystems, such as forests, are the only form of carbon removal operating at scale and have the significant benefit of also being species-rich wildlife habitats. Where natural ecosystems are too limited in size to remove enough residual emissions, technological solutions referred to as 'engineered carbon removal' can be used to increase sequestration. The main method is to capture the carbon released when plants are burnt, a process known as bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS).

Therefore, land is likely to provide the 'net' in net zero: the question for policy makers is what balance they should seek between natural habitat creation and BECCS. Evidence from the UK suggests BECCS has three significant drawbacks: it has few benefits for nature, may not deliver genuine removals and is four to 12 times more expensive than supporting farmers and land managers to create carbon sequestering semi-natural habitats, per tonne of CO_2 .^{11,12,13}

Increased consumption of alternative proteins reduces demand for expensive engineered removals in two important ways. First, their carbon footprint is much lower than meat and dairy products.¹⁴ This reduces the emissions that need to be offset. Second, in freeing up land, alternative proteins create space to expand natural carbon sinks, reducing the need for engineered carbon removals, whilst benefitting nature.

66

Increased consumption of alternative proteins reduces demand for expensive engineered removals."

66

It is much cheaper to support European farmers to manage land for carbon and nature than to pay for BECCS." Our analysis considers emissions across the whole economy. We assumed other sectors' emissions will fall as planned and estimated the likely emissions from the farming and land use sector resulting from each of our modelled scenarios.¹⁵ We assumed any emissions not offset by natural carbon sinks must be offset through BECCS.

Our 'high innovation' scenario reduces the required engineered carbon removal for net zero across all ten countries' economies from 243MtCO₂e per year to just 27MtCO₂e per year by 2050, assuming excess negative emissions are traded between countries.

This has four major benefits. First, taxpayer costs fall because it is much cheaper to support European farmers and land managers to manage land for carbon and nature than to pay for BECCS: the savings are worth around €21 billion in 2050 alone.¹⁶ Second, investment in carbon removal goes to the rural areas where natural habitats are expanded. This improves marginal rural livelihoods, provided governments support farmers with a fair price for carbon removal.

Third, it avoids the need to build large amounts of infrastructure: removing $243MtCO_2$ e a year from the atmosphere with BECCS plants would involve building electricity generation infrastructure larger than Germany and Poland's combined coal power plants.¹⁷ Finally, it avoids challenging supply chain issues: $243MtCO_2$ e per year of BECCS would need five times more wood pellets than are currently produced globally.¹⁸

If the alternative proteins industry cannot increase its market share, demand for engineered carbon removal will exceed 300MtCO₂e per year. Demand would remain high due to emissions from the livestock sector and because the land necessary would not be available to expand natural carbon sinks, meaning engineered solutions would be needed. This could happen, for instance, if alternative protein products are banned, as Italy recently did with cultivated meat.¹⁹

Alternative proteins allow the expansion of natural carbon sinks, reducing demand for engineered carbon removal



Net carbon positive countries

Countries that need negative emissions, in addition to their natural sinks, to achieve net zero

Net carbon negative countries

Countries that have more negative emissions from their natural sinks than they need to achieve net zero

Hidden within this European story are groups of countries with their own stories. Regardless of how they might take advantage of their potential land dividend, Sweden and Romania are likely to be net carbon negative, ie absorbing more carbon emissions than they produce, due to their natural carbon sink capacity, without having to resort to engineered removals, even with low intervention in alternative proteins.

These nations could choose to use their negative carbon emissions balance to sell to, or share with, five of the countries we studied (the Netherlands, UK, Italy, Germany and Denmark) that would have excess emissions. As nature-based removals, these would be likely to undercut the cost of engineered removals.

The other countries included in our study, France, Spain and Poland, have the potential to reach negative emissions without recourse to engineered removals, but only in our 'high innovation' alternative proteins scenario.

The renewable energy demand of alternative proteins

Producing alternative proteins requires energy. Renewables are the cheapest energy source but they need land. To account for this, we estimate that, based on the anticipated efficiency that could be achieved by scaling up alternative proteins, our 'high innovation' scenario would require 300-700TWh more electricity per year in 2050 to produce the alternative proteins for all ten countries. Using solar power to generate this would use 0.1-0.2 per cent of the land area of the countries studied. Using onshore wind, it would rise to 0.3-0.4 per cent.

Wind can be integrated alongside farmland with no impact on food production as turbines occupy a small fraction of land area: the rest is typically fields. For solar farms, grazing can still take place underneath solar panels, while agrivoltaics can combine solar with some types of crop production.

However, the land area needed for renewables is dwarfed by the 44 per cent of domestic farmland that alternative proteins could free up. In addition, because meat and dairy production also requires energy, it would cut energy demand in the countries that meat and dairy are currently imported from, as we assume the alternative proteins that displace these products would be produced domestically.



The land demand for the renewable energy infrastructure needed to produce alternative proteins is a fraction of the land they free up

66

36 per cent of currently farmed land in the countries we studied could become certified organic."

3. Alternative proteins enable agroecological farmland to quadruple

Unless consumption of conventional meat and dairy declines substantially, expanding agroecological, high nature value, or nature-friendly farming has unintended consequences. The definitions of these farming types are loose, but their common feature is lower food yields requiring greater land area, so simply changing to these methods would drive some production overseas. Increasing the use of alternative proteins changes the equation by creating space for these farming methods to grow domestically.

With high innovation in alternative proteins, our shared dividend approach would allow the agroecological or nature-friendly farm area to quadruple, whilst overseas land use and demand for engineered carbon removal falls. Because no estimates of the area of agroecological or nature-friendly farming exist, we have used organic farmland as a proxy. Our 'high innovation' scenario could mean 36 per cent of currently farmed land in the countries we studied could become certified organic, exceeding the EU Farm to Fork target to farm 25 per cent of land organically. Individually, only the Netherlands and Poland would struggle to hit this target without needing to increase its food imports.

Even in our 'low intervention' scenario, there would be enough land freed up to double the organically farmed area. In Italy and Sweden this would be sufficient to meet the Farm to Fork target. The other countries we studied would need additional displacement of meat and dairy by alternative proteins to meet the target under our shared dividend approach.

The EU's 25 per cent Farm to Fork target has been set for 2030. Many countries are not on track to meet it.²⁰ Our analysis shows that the speed at which meat and dairy are displaced by alternative proteins would determine the timeframe within which this target could be met without offshoring food production. Reaching the target by 2030 would require extremely rapid alternative protein uptake.

Only the Netherlands and Poland struggle to achieve 25% organic production in our 'high innovation' scenario



Expanding alternative proteins frees up more land for domestic organic farming without forcing more production overseas



66

Species will continue to decline if land spared by switching to alternative proteins is only used to expand agroecological farming."

Limits to expanding agroecological farming

Agroecological farming can support traditional livelihoods and support wild species that do well on farmland. Some of these are under threat from practices associated with high yielding, more conventional systems, such as ground nesting skylarks that reproduce with little success in the winter sown crops developed by modern breeding techniques.

Evidence from both Poland and the UK suggests wildlife overall would benefit from a 'three compartment' approach to land use where high yield farming in some places frees up land elsewhere for semi-natural habitat and to make other farming more nature-friendly, such as creating fallow plots within a crop where skylarks could nest, which typically reduces yields.²¹

But many species will continue to decline if land spared by switching to alternative proteins is only used to expand agroecological farming. These species have suffered from the loss of non-farmed land, such as forests, wetlands, scrublands and other habitats cleared to make way for agriculture. To restore nature, it is important that agroecological farming is not expanded at the expense of protecting and expanding unfarmed habitats.

In addition, though agroecological farmland may produce lower greenhouse gas emissions per unit area, it is not a net carbon sink.²² If agroecological farming takes space away from natural habitats that can sequester carbon, it will increase demand for engineered carbon removal, increasing the cost to taxpayers of net zero.

Diet change is therefore essential for agroecological farming to expand and maintain sufficient food production; without it, expanding agroecology would reduce food self-sufficiency, as lower yields mean more food has to be sourced from overseas.

66

Lower demand for land use overseas could reduce deforestation pressures."

4. Alternative proteins could make space for more wildlife habitats and reduce impacts overseas

Even a low level of alternative protein uptake could allow farmers to expand agroecological farming and semi-natural habitats on a third of currently farmed land, with significant advantages for wildlife across Europe.

Our 'high innovation' scenario would double this opportunity to two thirds of currently farmed land. Farmers on a third of currently farmed land could be supported to restore semi-natural habitats, such as forests, bogs, fens and scrubland. In addition, a further third of currently farmed land could be agroecologically managed by 2050, benefitting the farm-adapted species that the EU's recent Nature Restoration Law has pledged to restore. Evidence from the UK suggests using some land for habitat creation would offer a more profitable and stable future to farms in Less Favoured Areas (now called areas with natural or other area-specific constraints, or ANCs), as long as governments offer a fair price for the environmental benefits.²³

While we have not quantified the associated nature benefits, the combination of semi-natural habitat and high nature value farming would allow the ten countries we studied to create and restore the Annex I habitats at the level required under the EU's Nature Restoration Law.²⁴ In addition, lower demand for land use overseas could reduce deforestation pressures, depending on domestic policies in the countries the EU trades with, helping to support recent EU and UK commitments to deforestation-free products and ending deforestation.^{25,26}

Our 'high innovation' scenario could allow all countries to create and restore the habitats required by the Nature Restoration Law²⁷



Species benefitting from semi-natural habitats

Iberian lynx

Habitat: forest Threatened by hunting and habitat loss primarily driven by agriculture



Northern lapwing Habitat: wet grassland Threatened by habitat loss driven by agriculture



European bison Habitat: forest Threatened by habitat loss primarily driven by agriculture



Large heath butterfly Habitat: bog Threatened by habitat loss due to drainage of land for agriculture



Species benefitting from agroecological farming

Eurasian skylark

Habitat: open farmland Threatened by changes to farming practices including autumn sowing and stubble loss



Grey partridge Habitat: farmland Threatened by pesticides, increasing farm tidiness



Grey long-eared bat Habitat: meadow, grassland Threatened by changed farm practices driving habitat loss



Large blue butterfly Habitat: meadow, grassland Threatened by changed farm practices driving habitat loss



66

The changes expected in Spain also reinforces the case for the greater economic and climate resilience that alternative proteins could offer."

Drought and desertification in Spain

Global heating is limiting both the suitability of land in Europe for agriculture and the types of habitats that can be established on land that might be freed up by alternative proteins.

Of the countries we studied, Spain is expected to have the largest area that will become unsuitable for agriculture and trees: 74 per cent of the country's land is threatened with desertification and current temperature rises have already cut the value of Spanish agriculture by six per cent.^{28,29}

Farmers play a stewardship role in managing habitats in a way that reduces risks, particularly of forest fire. Policy should support farmers to take the lead in expanding suitable habitats where appropriate. Our modelling sees a variety of habitat types created in each country: woodlands, wetlands, scrub and other species-rich grassland habitats. In the face of increasing forest fires and desertification, the potential to expand woodland or high nature value farmland may be especially limited in southern Spain.³⁰

However, the changes expected in Spain also reinforces the case for the greater economic and climate resilience that alternative proteins could offer. The subsequent land dividend would reduce the economic disruption caused by rapid warming and enable the country to focus on increasing its nature-based resilience.

66

We found no significant difference between the land use footprints of alternative proteins and unprocessed plant-based foods."

Why not just eat more plants, rather than alternative proteins?

We studied the expansion of plant-based proteins, precision fermentation and cultivated meat and dairy products. However, many stakeholders we interviewed for this research suggested it would be better to eat more unprocessed fruit, vegetables, pulses and grains instead. While this is a good option, we believe alternative proteins are more likely to drive down the consumption of meat and dairy for two reasons. First, alternative proteins can closely replicate the tastes and textures of meat and dairy which many people still want. Second, it is easier to switch a beef burger to a similarly presented plant-based burger than to ask people to alter their eating habits and cook more from scratch, which is less convenient.

We conducted a sensitivity analysis in which meat and dairy consumption was only displaced by unprocessed plants rather than alternative proteins, to assess the impact on our conclusions. We found no significant difference between the land use footprints of alternative proteins and unprocessed plant-based foods, even when the energy infrastructure needed for alternative proteins is included.

On environmental grounds, policy makers should support people to choose either alternative proteins or unprocessed plant foods, or a mix of both.

Conclusions

66

Alternative proteins could open up a new vision for farming and managing Europe's rural areas, with huge potential benefits." A shift to eating alternative proteins would create an unprecedented land dividend for Europe, avoiding difficult trade-offs between food self-sufficiency, carbon neutrality, biodiversity protection and the preservation of rural livelihoods. For geopolitical, environmental and social reasons, these are going to be major issues over the next 25 years.

Alternative proteins are much more land efficient than conventional meat and dairy products. Even accounting for the land needed to power their production, the ten countries we studied have the potential to become food self-sufficient under our 'high innovation' scenario. This could happen at the same time as expanding agroecological or high nature value farming fourfold and supporting farmers on more than a quarter of currently farmed land to create carbon sequestering, wildlife-rich natural habitats. This would result in up to nine times less demand for expensive, engineered carbon removals.

To realise this opportunity, governments will need to increase their support for alternative proteins with innovation funding and ensure rapid, well regulated approval of new products. At the same time, rural policy should anticipate the land dividend this will lead to. Policy must support farmers to change how they use their land to meet other priorities, and provide fair, long term funding for land stewardship that delivers public goods, such as carbon storage, flood and fire prevention, and biodiversity restoration.

Overall, our analysis shows that much higher consumption of alternative proteins could open up a new vision for farming and managing Europe's rural areas, with huge potential benefits. It will be crucial to engage people democratically in the opportunities that this presents.

Recommendations

- 1. Policy should support the development of alternative proteins in Europe with investment to drive healthier product composition and taste and cost parity, while ensuring European farmers supply the inputs.
- 2 To gain the land dividend we have outlined, the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) should avoid direct payments that support conventional meat and dairy production. Combining today's CAP with reduced domestic demand for conventional animal products would see European taxpayers paying once for production, which is often exported, and then paying again to mitigate the subsequent carbon emissions and environmental damage caused by high levels of livestock production.
- 3. Farmers should be paid to convert land previously dedicated to conventional meat and dairy production into habitats that store carbon and restore nature. Doing so would be a cost effective way to meet climate and nature targets, and would guarantee rural livelihoods.
- 4. In the EU, member states should openly discuss landscape and rural economic change with their citizens, with a view to shifting CAP payments to a wider set of rural land uses.

Endnotes

- 1 National Food Strategy, 2021, *The evidence*; see p 140, for the rise of processed and pre-prepared meat in the UK's diet; and see p 129-133 for evidence on existing dietary transitions. The rapidly rising trend in the consumption of ready-made meals can be seen in: Systemiq, 2023, 'Ready-made meals study key insights'.
- 2 Food price inflation of poultry, dairy, eggs and pork has outpaced general food inflation in the EU since the invasion of Ukraine, according to: Eurostat, 8 May 2023, 'EU food inflation: oils and fats up 23% in March 2023'; and AHDB, 24 November 2022, 'Further price rises pose a threat to meat and dairy demand'
- 3 Further detail and additional displacement scenarios can be found in our accompanying technical report.
- 4 Based on consumption in the UK, reported in: National Food Strategy, 2021, *The plan*. Consumption of processed products in other European countries is not yet as high, but is trending in the same direction as the UK, as can be seen in: Systemiq, 2023, 'Ready-made meals study key insights'.
- 5 European Environment Agency, 2023, 'In-depth topics: Land use'
- 6 The use of agrivoltaics results in very modest yield loss even for arable crops, see: A Weselek, et al, 2021, 'Agrivoltaic system impacts on microclimate and yield of different crops within an organic crop rotation in a temperate climate'. Agronomy for sustainable development, vol 41, issue 5, p 59

- 7 IDDRI, 2018, An agroecological Europe in 2050: multifunctional agriculture for healthy eating,
- 8 In reality, trade will still occur due to demand for out of season produce and foods that can only be grown abroad but, in net land use terms, these countries would be able to feed their populations solely using domestic land.
- 9 A Sadowski and A Baer-Nawrocka, 2016, 'Food self-sufficiency of the European Union countries – energetic approach', Journal of agribusiness and rural development, vol 2, issue 40
- 10 Courthouse News Service, 12 October 2023, 'Alarm bells ring over dead zones in Danish waters'
- P Smith, et al, 2018, 'Impacts on terrestrial biodiversity of moving from a 2C to a 1.5C target', Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society A: mathematical, physical and engineering sciences, vol 376, issue 2,119.
- 12 M Fajardy and N MacDowell, 2017, 'Can BECCS deliver sustainable and resource efficient negative emissions?', *Energy & environmental science*, vol 10, issue 6, p 1,389-1,426
- 13 Green Alliance, July 2022, Briefing: 'Greenhouse gas removals'
- 14 K Behm, et al, 2022, 'Comparison of carbon footprint and water scarcity footprint of milk protein produced by cellular agriculture and the dairy industry', *The international journal of life cycle assessment*, vol 27, issue 8, p 1,017-1,034; N Järviö, et al, 2021, 'Ovalbumin production using Trichoderma reesei culture and low-carbon energy could mitigate the environmental impacts of

chicken-egg-derived ovalbumin.' *Nature food*, vol 2, issue 12, p 1,005-1,013; P Sinke, et al, 2023, 'Ex-ante life cycle assessment of commercial-scale cultivated meat production in 2030', *The international journal of life cycle assessment*, vol 28, issue 3, p 234-254

- 15 See our <u>technical report</u> for details of assumed emissions trajectories.
- 16 Based on the lower bound estimate of the future price for bioenergy with carbon capture and storage in: European Parliament, 2021, Briefing:
 'Carbon dioxide removal: nature-based and technological solutions'
- 17 The capacity of coal power stations in Germany and Poland combined is 68GW according to: Statista, 2023, 'Countries with largest installed capacity of coal power plants worldwide as of July 2022'. Delivering 243MtCO₂e per vear would require 30 Drax-style plants to deliver the 8MtCO₂e per year estimated to be possible, see: Drax, 2023, 'Drax enters formal discussions with UK Government on large-scale power BECCS'. Drax generates 2.6GW (see Drax, 2023), so 30 plants would generate 78GW, larger than Germany and Poland's combined coal power capacity.
- 18 Drax is aiming to burn eight million tonnes of wood pellets by 2030 to deliver these negative emissions according to: Drax, 2023, 'Drax ends half a century of coal fired power generation'. Approximately 47Mt of wood pellets are produced annually, based on: Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, 2023, 'FAOSTAT: forestry

production and trade'. So 30 Drax-style plants would require five times the global wood pellet supply.

- Bloomberg, 16 November 2023, 'Italy bans lab-grown meat in move to protect culinary heritage'
- 20 Food Navigator Europe, 15 April 2021, 'Europe's 'difficult target' of 25% organic by 2030: is the Organic Action Plan doing enough'; Table Europe, 14 August 2023, 'Organic farming: how realistic is the 25 percent target?'
- 21 T Finch, et al, 2020, 'Optimising nature conservation outcomes for a given region-wide level of food production', *Journal of applied* ecology, vol 57, issue 5, p 985-994; C Feniuk, et al, 2019, 'Land sparing to make space for species dependent on natural habitats and high nature value farmland', *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, vol 286, issue 1,909
- 22 T Garnett, et al, 2017, Grazed and confused?: ruminating on cattle, grazing systems, methane, nitrous oxide, the soil carbon sequestration question, FCRN; A Weiske, et al, 2006, 'Mitigation of greenhouse gas emissions in European conventional and organic dairy farming', Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, vol 112, p 221-232; C Skinner, et al, 2019, 'The impact of long-term organic farming on soil-derived greenhouse gas emissions', Scientific reports, vol 9, issue 1, p 1,702
- 23 Green Alliance, 2023, Farming for the future
- 24 European Commission, 2022, 'Proposal for a Nature Restoration Law'

- 25 European Parliament News, 19 April 2023, 'Parliament adopts new law to fight global deforestation'
- 26 BBC News, 2 November 2021, 'COP26: World leaders promise to end deforestation by 2030'
- 27 The EU Restoration Law requires 90 per cent of the habitats needing restoration to be restored by 2050. The habitats needing restoration are set out in 'Impact assessment accompanying the proposal for a Regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council on nature restoration', table IV, We assessed the area this affected by finding 90 per cent of the wetland, grassland and heathland habitat areas listed in this table. We assumed the other habitat types were not farmed land and so excluded them from our calculations.
- 28 European Court of Auditors, 2018, Combating desertification in the EU: a growing threat in need of more action, special report
- 29 P Resco, 2022, Empieza la cuenta atras. Impactos del cambio climatico en la agricultura espanola, Coordindora de Organizaciones de Agricultores y Ganaderos (COAG), with English summary at: Agroberichten Buitenland, 18 May 2022, 'Climate change is already taking its toll on Spanish agriculture'
- 30 European Environment Agency, 2016, Projected changes in climatic suitability for broadleaf and needleleaf trees

Green Alliance 18th Floor Millbank Tower 21-24 Millbank London SW1P 4QP

+44 (0)20 7233 7433 ga@green-alliance.org.uk

www.green-alliance.org.uk @GreenAllianceUK blog: www.greenallianceblog.org.uk